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The period between approximately the early 15th century and the first three
decades of the 16th is normally regarded as a time of grave economic depression and
social insecurity.”! Such an impression seems to be borne out by the surviving
documents which complain repeatedly of the rapacity of corrupt crown officials, the
exploitation of feudal lords and powerful local notables, over taxation, pillaging
raids by the terrible Hafsids of Tunisia and piratical incursions by oese and
Calabrian ships as well as of natural calamities such as plague and drought.®
Perhaps the most eloquent of the capitoli or petitions that the Maltese sent to the
King or his Viceroy in Sicily was that of 1466 in which they gave a probably,

\ rated picture of dejection: quista insola, they bemoaned, é quasi unu
parvulu scoglectu situatu in mezu mari, remotu undique da omni succursu ef
rifrigeriu.”

Nonetheless, inspite of the apparently serious distress, the period also witnessed
an unexpected boom in church buildings and a remarkable flowering of artistic
patronage.® The Cathedral at Mdina was enlarged into a cruciform shape in 1419
and in, 1520 it was given a new painted and gilt timbered ceiling when a clerestory
was built on the nave arcades;® the mendicant friars who established themselves at
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Rabat built and enlarged churches and convents;'® and several of the twelve cappelle,
or parish churches, mentioned in the 1436 report”™ were structurally modified as
happened, for example, at Zurrieq, Qormi, Siggiewi, Zejtun and Bir Miftuh.® More
remarkable still was the great quantity of small churches, many of them apparently
votive buildings, that were built or rebuilt both in the casali and in remote country
districts; by 1530 these seem to have numbered about four hundred!®

The few snippets of information so far unearthed about artistic patronage are
even more revealing in that they often point to an unexpected sophistication in the
choice of artists and workshops that necessitated contacts not only with nearby
Sicily but also with the Italian mainland and, possibly, even further afield. Some of
the more relevant documents have been published and discussed by Dr. Godfrey
Wettinger'® but there is still much scope for further research both by the late
medieval specialist historian and by the art critic.

Mdina Cathedral had, as might be expected, the most impressive works. They
included the great pala or retable of St. Paul which seems to be the work of a painter
in the immediate entourage of Luis Borassa (1360 — 1426) who was the leading
Catalan painter of the International Gothic period;"'" an oblong panel with scenes of
the Dormition of the Virgin and St. Michael which is strongly Valencian in style;(?
intarsia choir stalls commissioned in 1482 from Parisio and Pierantonio Calacura,
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carpinteri of Catania;" a white marble baptismal font from the Palermo workshop
of Domenico Gagini executed sometime between 1495 and 1501;('% a triptych of the
Madonna del Soccorso, attributed to Salvo d’Antonio and possibly painted in the
last decade of the 15th century;"¥ and ceiling paintings by Alessandro Patavinus, or
Padovano of Siracusa who may also be the author of the large panel of the
Madonna of Loreto in the Ta’ Loreto Church at Gudja and, possibly, also of some
of the murals in the cave-church of St. Agatha.!® A bell with a relief figure of St.
Paul and three shields each showing a lion rampant was made in Venice, for the
Cathedral in 137007 and, in 1442, the dean of the Cathedral, Don Bernardus Janer,
bound his heirs with precise instructions to order from Venice an embroidered
banderiam which probably means, in this context, a hanging screen or tapestry or,
perhaps, a banner, which was to depict St. Paul with Don Bernardo at his feet.!'¥

Other important works were commissioned by the Monastic Orders and by local
notables such as Joannes de Nava who, in his will of 1st November 1487 made
provisions for a sepoltura di marmora or marble sepulchral monument that was to
be embellished with a gilt trophy of arms and a silk banner emblazoned with his arms.
Unfortunately there are no particulars about the workshop entrusted with its
execution and it is not even known whether the work was actually carried out.!"” De
Nava's heirs were certainly not over zealous about fulfilling his other stipulated wish
to provide a marble effigy of the Virgin of Loreto for a chapel he had founded in the
Dominican Church of the Virgin of the Grotto.*”

Not far from the Dominican Church, the Augustinians decorated their own
church at Rabat with a very fine polyptych which may have come from the artistic
milieu of Sicily but is technically and iconographically related with the more
Northern International Gothic Style."*"
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Cloge ties were meanwhile maintained with the Gagini Messina WorkshoP and
with the Messina School of painters that revolved round the great Antonello da
Messina. In 1504 the Franciscan Minor Observants signed a contract with Antonello
Gagini tor @ marble statue of the Madonna and Child which survives In their Rabat
Church and carries on the pedestal the partially legible signature of Antonello and
the date 1504.331 This statue which is mentioned i a will of 1535 published by
Wettingerl2" served as a model for another Madonna that Antonello Gagini
produced shortly afterwards for the church of Santa Maria della Grazia at_Catan-
zar0.1341 Another work stylistically related to the Messina workshop of the Gagini is
the white marble statue of St. Agdtha in the Church of the saint at Rabat.'2-1 A much
ater work of the same workshop s the beautiful tomb of Grand Master Philippe
Villiers de L'lsle Adam produced round 1534-35 and now erected in the Grand
Master's Crypt of the Conventual Church of St. John's at Valletta.

The Maltese activity of the Sicilian followers of Antonello da Messina is quite well
known. Antonello had a close family link with Malta because one of his two sisters
married, about 1461, a probable ndtive of Malta, Giovanni De Saliba, or Resaliba
who was active as an inlaglialore at Messina between 1469 and 1510.1"11 Giovanni's
two Ramter sons Pietro and Antonio de Saliba both worked for Maltese patrons as
did their cousin 3alva (known In art as Salvo d'Antonio) who was the son of Anto-
nello's brother Giordano.1271 Their Maltese works have been discussed elsewhere

oth by myself and other historians and art critics'38L and | wish, here, to comment
onlmon a [argepala clallare that Antonio de Saliba produced in 1517 for the Church
of Minor Observants at Rabat. This polypt)(,ch nad two main panels (which still
survive) representing, respectively the Laméntation for Christ and' the Madonna  and
Chila Enthroned. ~ The other Eanels, depicted St. Paul, St. Anthony of Padua, S

: f
Francis of Assist, Bishop St. Ludwig, St. Agatha, St. Catherine of Alexandria and
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(Gloacchino di Marzo, [ Gagini e Ia scullura_in Sicilia net secoli XV e XVI, Palermo 18B0 - 1883,
vol. 2, p. 60 doc.XLVI.),Sec also Vincenzo Bonello in V, Bonello/J.A. Cauchi, Pauline  Centenar
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1978. pp. 69-72 and idem. St Agatha; An Archaeological Study of the Ancient Monuments — and
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Patronage”, p.. Ill; Anthony Luttrell. "ApBroaches" pp. 65-66 and” "The Madonna del
Soccors0”; Mario Buhagiar. St. Catherine, pp. 98 - 99 and "Late Medieval Marian Art", pp.6- 7;
Genevieve Bautier-Bresc, op.Cit., X 103. . _ .

27. For a q_eneaologlcal, table of the Antonello family sec "L_‘pEe[a completa di Antonello da Messina"
ed. by Leonardo Sciascia for the Classici dell‘Arte.” Rizzoii Editore, Milan 1967. p. 84.

28. See riote 26, supra.
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St. Lucy; while on the predella (which was inscribed and dated) the Salvator ~ Mundi
was surrounded by the Apostles.13" .

Another important pala d'allare of unknown_ authorship and . provenance
somehow found its Way to the parish church of the village of Qormi which had been
either rebuilt or structurally altered in 1456 during thé time of parish priest Don
Giglio Lombardo.'-01 The pala which has Iongf been dismembered was made up of at
leasL. four panels: a large central Lamentation for Christ, a Si. George, aSi. re?o
and a Crucifixus. ~ Stylistic considerations s_uggiest that it also had a predella but o
}hIS tth_ere Is no documentary evidence and (ifit ever existed) it must have been lost a
ong time ago.

1gne hlstogry of this pala is a complicated one. It may, possibly, be identified with
the icona mentioned in the Dusina Report of 1575 when it was éxhibited for venera-
tion above the tabernacle on the chancel altar."11 A few years later in 1588 U was
referred to as an icona_cum Imagine Jesu Christi el Virginis Mariaea™>  Subsequent
visitation reports describe it in greater detail and it seems to have remained the main

29. The pala wax described in 1730 by friar-chronicler, Gjovanni Antonio Mercieca who gives the
following account, quoted by Fr. George Aquilina, "Marian Devotions and the Franciscans Minor”
in Vincent Borg [ed), MarianDevotions ~in the Islands of St. Paul él600-|,800|, Malta 1983, p. 340 n,
58; Icon veneratUr anliquissima, ct ?,othlco,m,ore_m trcs ordines divisa In_quodam primo e S_UFBFIOFI
representat in medio corporis Christi Domini_exiincti depositloncm dc Cruce in sinum afflictijs V.
Matrix, a latere dextcro D. Paulum el post ilium Divum Anionium Paiavinum, a sinistro S.P.N.
Franciscum, « POSt hunc _S._Eplscoi)um t.udovicum. In medio secundi ordinis B.mam Virginem in
Cathedra sedentem cum divina Prole super ejus dexteram genu stame. ct Angelas utrinque sacras
adorantes Personas: a dexferis Dciparcntis S. ¢t Virgines slant Agatha et Catherina, a sinistris verg
Lucia et Barhara: tertius el infimus ordo unius circitCr palmi altitudinis adesi. in quo Salvator Mundi
in medjo existens, et cquali numero Apostolorum suorum ad dexteram, sinistramyvc associatus
ostendiiur ... OFUS Messanae elaboratum anno_1517". Fr. George Aquiting (p, 340). wrongIP/
attributes the pala to Antonello. Fr. George Aquilina has also traced and published IIl-Gimgha ™ I-
Kbira 1al-Bell, "Malta 1986, p. 83n) an apparently contemporary copy of the deed registering'a pan
payment to Antonello de Saliba, in the Malta” provincial archives, Ms. 1, p. 3:"Messane: XX
Novembris. 7 Indict. 1517. Nobilis Antonellus Resaliba Civis messanensis s?onte cottfessus est
recepisse et habuisse ah honorabili Johanne Zamit Maltense, uti procuratore Ecclesiae seu conventus
Sana.n Mariae de_Jehsu ciusdem, Civilatis Meljvetae unciam ‘unam el are,nos,sedecm]: sunt . ad
com?llmenturn unciaruiti quivauaginLa ad quos dictus Convenlus <*idfi iitthili Anionpltn eaebaim.
pro factura et constryctione cuisdam Conae pro dicto Convenly. Itaque ut dicat apparere dc praemissis
inactis publicis i)roprla sponte nobilis Antonellus a dicto convenlu. me nolariosiipulante, pro quo tenens
sc contentum el satisfactum de supra dicto debtto. Cum ... voluit et vult per omnes contractus et
scripturae Intereundi nolario in predictum Conventum facti ¢ factae sunt cassi ct nulli ac nullae.
solummodo ,de_lqraeseml contractu in suo roborc pro existenti. Ipse Johannes proguratorio nomine
quo supra, similiter confessus est ab eodem nobiii Antonello recepisse el habuisse dictam conam jam
sum anni duo. Et propterea s¢ ad invicem contractaverunt ct quod omnia etc. sub poena etc.
obligando, habendo etc. et jure fiat in forma communi.

Praescntibus nobiii Sigismundo Capri, Magro Nicolao, Antonio Mithella, Bernardo Dabello. Ex

aciis meis Francisct Anlonii Demaring reFu public! Messanensis, manu propria, ) _

30. On Dun Giglio Lombardg and the rebuilding of Qormi parish church see Mario Buhagiar. "Xoghli-
K}et ta" Arti'w Anigjanat fil-Knisja [a" San Gorg". opcit, pp. 86-87.

31. National Museumof Archaeology, Valletta, Visitatio Dusina 1575, f. 100. ) )

32. Archiepiscopal Archives, Floriana, Visitatio Gargallo 1588 - 1602, f 40. The pala is also mentioned
in_several other visitation reports, at the Archiepiscopal Archives, ,amon%the_m: Visitatio Gar%allo
1601, f189: Visitatio Balaguer 1636, f 5dv and 1653. f 178: Visitatio Astiria 1671-74, f 246v:

}/isga?tlof l[\lllé)glma 1678- 80.71. 356; Visitatio Rull 1758- 59 (II). t. 549v: Visitatio Pellerano 1771 -

, T 403v.



